Georgia State University ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University

Public Health Theses

School of Public Health

5-17-2013

Evaluation of the Compartment Bag Test for the Detection of Escherichia coli in Drinking Water

Candace D. Miller Georgia State University

Follow this and additional works at: http://scholarworks.gsu.edu/iph_theses

Recommended Citation

Miller, Candace D., "Evaluation of the Compartment Bag Test for the Detection of Escherichia coli in Drinking Water." Thesis, Georgia State University, 2013. http://scholarworks.gsu.edu/iph_theses/264

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the School of Public Health at ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University. It has been accepted for inclusion in Public Health Theses by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University. For more information, please contact scholarworks@gsu.edu.

EVALUATION OF THE COMPARTMENT BAG TEST FOR THE DETECTION OF ESCHERICHIA COLI IN DRINKING WATER

by

CANDACE MILLER

M.S., UNIVERSITY OF ALABAMA AT BIRMINGHAM B.S., SPELMAN COLLEGE

A Thesis Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of Georgia State University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree

MASTER OF PUBLIC HEALTH

ATLANTA, GEORGIA 30303

2013

APPROVAL PAGE

EVALUATION OF THE COMPARTMENT BAG TEST FOR THE DETECTION OF ESCHERICHIA COLI IN DRINKING WATER

by

CANDACE MILLER

Approved:

Dr. Christine Stauber

Committee Chair

Dr. Lisa Casanova

Committee Member

Dr. Sheryl Strasser

Committee Member

April 26, 2013

Date

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my committee chair, Dr. Christine Stauber for her dedication and guidance. Her expertise and understanding substantially added to my graduate experience in the public health program. She provided me with direction and support that could only be given by someone with a passion for not only her work, but also for helping others. It has been an absolute honor to serve as a graduate research assistant under her direction. I am very grateful for all of her encouragement throughout this process. My appreciation also goes to the other members of my committee, Dr. Lisa Casanova and Dr. Sheryl Strasser for their valuable support, assistance, and feedback.

I must acknowledge Ms. Kate Kroell and Ms. Brittany Cantrell for their hard work in collecting, processing, and analyzing the samples for this research. I truly enjoyed my experience working with them in the laboratory. Without them this research could not have been completed. In addition, I would like to thank the numerous students and staff who contributed water samples to be analyzed, with a very special thanks to former and present Institute of Public Health students who volunteered their time and laboratory skills to help process and test samples for this research.

Thank you to the faculty and staff who inspired me along the way, and made my experience in the public health program a memorable one. Sincere thanks to my academic advisor, Dr. Richard Rothenberg for his academic and career advisement. Much thanks to all of my mentors, without whose motivation and reassurance I would not have made it this far in my journey. Thank you for believing in me.

I would like to recognize and thank my family for their continued support and encouragement, especially during the most difficult times in these past two years with the loss of several beloved family members. I doubted whether I could make it through those dark and rough days, but they helped to carry me through with the encouragement to persevere in honor of our loved ones. Thank you to my family members who are no longer here, but ingrained in me that nothing is impossible when you believe.

In conclusion, I would like to acknowledge that this research would not have been possible without the scientific contributions of researchers at the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, and the support provided by the Research Initiation Grant and the Georgia State University Institute of Public Health.

ABSTRACT

INTRODUCTION. More than 1.8 million diarrheal disease deaths can be attributed to the lack of access to water, sanitation and hygiene. These deaths occur mostly in developing countries where water quality testing resources are limited. Several tests are currently used to detect and quantify *E. coli* and other fecal coliforms in drinking water, however they can be expensive, complex, and technically demanding. There is a need for a simple, reliable, low-cost water quality test that can be used in resource limited settings. Therefore, the purpose of this research was to perform a rigorous evaluation of the recently developed compartment bag test for detection and quantification of *E. coli* against the standard method, membrane filtration.

METHODS AND RESULTS. A total of 270 water samples were collected from fortyfive various naturally contaminated water sources around metro-Atlanta from August 2011 through April 2012 and processed using the compartment bag test and membrane filtration with mI agar. Concentrations of *E. coli* were significantly correlated with a correlation coefficient of 0.904 (95% CI 0.859 – 0.950). Sensitivity and specificity were 94.9% and 96.6%, respectively.

CONCLUSION. These results suggest that the compartment bag test produces results consistent with those produced by membrane filtration on mI agar. Based upon its performance, the compartment bag test has the potential to be used as a reliable, low-cost drinking water quality test globally where water quality testing resources are not readily available, and can be implemented in monitoring activities for microbial water quality.

KEYWORDS

Environmental health, drinking water quality, microbial water testing, fecal indicator, *E. coli*, safe water

Author's Statement Page

In presenting this thesis as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Georgia State University, I agree that the Library of the University shall make if available for inspection and circulation in accordance with its regulations governing materials of this type. I agree that permission to quote from, to copy from, or to publish this thesis may be granted by the author or, in her absence, by the professor under whose direction it was written, or in her absence, by the Associate Dean, College of Health and Human Sciences. Such quoting, copying, or publishing must be solely for scholarly purposes and will not involve potential financial gain. It is understood that any copying from or publication of this dissertation which involves potential financial gain will not be allowed without written permission of the author.

Candace D. Miller, 4/26/2013

Signature of Author

Notice to Borrowers Page

All theses deposited in the Georgia State University Library must be used in accordance with the stipulations prescribed by the author in the preceding statement.

The author of this thesis is:

Candace Miller 2435 Josh Court Marietta, GA 30064

The Chair of the committee for this thesis is:

Christine E. Stauber, PhD Institute of Public Health

Georgia State University P. O. Box 3995 Atlanta, GA 30302-3995

Users of this thesis who are not regularly enrolled as students at Georgia State University are required to attest acceptance of the preceding stipulation by signing below. Libraries borrowing this thesis for the use of their patrons are required to see that each user records here the information requested.

NAME OF USER	ADDRESS	DATE	TYPE OF USE
			(EXAMINATION ONLY
			OR COPYING)

Curriculum Vitae

CANDACE MILLER

2435 Josh Court, Marietta, GA | 678-468-2732 | candacedm@gmail.com

EDUCATION

Georgia State University, Atlanta, GA M.P.H., Prevention Sciences	2013 (Anticipated)
University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, AL M.S., Clinical Laboratory Sciences	2009
Spelman College, Atlanta, GA B.S., Biology	2005
PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE	
Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, GA Graduate Research Assistant Performed nucleic acid extraction and PCR analysis for water samples collected from recreational water facilities.	2012– Present
Georgia State University, Atlanta, GA Graduate Research Assistant Performed microbial testing on water samples collected from natural water sources, and prepared materials for laboratory courses.	2011– Present
VA Medical Center, Birmingham, AL Medical Technologist Performed chemistry, microbiology, immunology, hematology, and blood bank laboratory procedures for the diagnosis, treatment, and prevention of diseases.	2009-2011
University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, AL Laboratory Assistant Processed human specimens, performed DNA extraction, and managed sample database.	2007-2009

PROFESSIONAL LICENSES AND CERTIFICATIONS

Medical Laboratory Scientist, American Society for Clinical Pathology (ASCP)

SPECIALIZED SKILLS AND TRAINING

Health and Safety Management Venipuncture

LEADERSHIP EXPERIENCE

Association of Chronic Disease Awareness, NACDD (Board Member) Georgia State University	2013-Present
Graduate Student Government Association (Senator) University of Alabama at Birmingham	2006-2009
Student Health Services and Insurance Committee University of Alabama at Birmingham	2007-2009
School of Health Professions Student Government Association (Senator) University of Alabama at Birmingham	2006-2009
Clinical Laboratory Sciences Student Association (Class Representative) University of Alabama at Birmingham	2006-2009

HONORS AND AWARDS

Golden Key International Honor Society	2007, 2012
American Society for Clinical Pathology Scholar	2009
Georgia Dwelle, MD Award	2004

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNO	WLEDGEMENTS	iii
LIST OF	TABLES	xi
LIST OF	FIGURES	xii
CHAPTI	ER	
I.	INTRODUCTION	1
II.	LITERATURE REVIEW	3
	Overview	
	Epidemiology of Diarrheal Disease	
	Burden of Diarrheal Disease	4
	Drinking Water Quality and Diarrheal Disease	6
	Comparison of Water Quality Tests	7
	Membrane Filtration	7
	Compartment Bag Test	
	Purpose of Research	
	References	14
III.	MANUSCRIPT	16
	Introduction	16
	Materials and Methods	17
	Membrane Filtration Method	18
	Compartment Bag Test Method	18
	Isolation and Purification of Presumptive E. coli Isolates	19
	Data Analysis	
	Results	
	Discussion	
	References	

LIST OF TABLES

Page

TABLE 1. Comparison of Water Quality Tests	12
TABLE 2. Descriptive Characteristics of Urban Water Samples CollectedBetween August 2011 and April 2012	22
TABLE 3. Results from Linear Regression Measuring E. coli Concentrations of the Compartment Bag Test and Membrane Filtration	23
TABLE 4. Comparison of Categorical Concentrations of <i>E. coli</i> for theCompartment Bag Test (CBT) and Membrane Filtration	23
TABLE 5. Statistical Comparison of Results for the Compartment BagTest Compared to the Standard Method, Membrane Filtration	24
TABLE 6. Performance Characteristics of the Compartment Bag Test for the Detection of <i>E. coli</i>	25
TABLE 7. Enterotube TM II Biochemical Test Results for PresumptiveE. coli Isolates	26
TABLE 8. Type of Source and Dichotomous Comparison of TotalMembrane Filtration Presumptive E. coli Results	27
TABLE 9. Season and Dichotomous Comparison of Total CompartmentBag Test and Membrane Filtration Results	27

LIST OF FIGURES

	Page
FIGURE 1. Compartment Bag Test	

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Approximately 783 million people worldwide do not have access to safe drinking water, with an estimated 2.5 billion people lacking access to sanitation, placing them at risk for waterborne illnesses. Diarrheal diseases cause more morbidity and mortality in children than malaria, AIDS, and measles collectively, resulting in the second leading cause of death globally among children under the age of five (Liu et al., 2011). One of the major causes of diarrheal disease is the consumption of microbiologically contaminated drinking water. Access to tests needed to monitor water quality and microbiological safety is limited in developing countries. The ability to provide a reliable, simple, low-cost test in limited resource settings may reduce the consumption of unsafe drinking water, thereby reducing the risk of waterborne disease.

Current drinking water quality tests are expensive, complex, and require extraneous laboratory equipment. Due to the immediate need for a simple, low-cost water quality test the compartment bag test has been developed in collaboration with researchers at the University of North Carolina. It is portable, and does not require extensive and expensive laboratory equipment that is normally needed for current tests of

1

drinking water quality. This test can be performed in developing countries with limited resources, as well as in developed countries in the occurrence of natural disasters. As a result of being recently developed, the compartment bag test needs significant validation in order to increase scientific evidence and be widely accepted by the scientific community.

This research was conducted to subject the compartment bag test to rigorous performance testing against the standard method, membrane filtration with mI agar. Information obtained from this study will help to promote the application of this test in resource limited settings. The compartment bag test has the potential to aid in the prevention of diarrheal disease, support water safety plans, and serve as a tool in microbial water quality monitoring activities.

CHAPTER II

LITERATURE REVIEW

Overview

Diarrheal diseases are the second leading cause of death among children under the age of five (Liu et al., 2012). It is estimated that 88% of deaths resulting from diarrheal diseases can be attributed to poor sanitation and hygiene, and the consumption of unsafe drinking water. Approximately one-half of developing countries lack access to safe drinking water (WHO/GLAAS, 2012). Due to the devastating impact of diarrheal disease in the developing world, there is a need for improved drinking water quality tests that can not only help prevent diarrheal disease, but are also economically feasible when resources are limited. The current tests for the detection of *Escherichia coli (E. coli)* in drinking water are complex and difficult to perform (Boubetra, Le Nestour, Allaert, & Feinberg, 2011). They require laboratory equipment and materials that may not be readily available in resource limited settings, and can be less affordable for developing countries (Sobsey & Pfaender, 2002).

The compartment bag test is a low-cost test that is simple and easy to use. It is portable, and does not require extensive and expensive laboratory equipment that is normally needed for current tests of drinking water quality. The compartment bag test consists of a sterile, clear, disposal plastic bag into which the water sample of interest and chromogenic media are poured into. This test is scientific based, and has the potential of being used worldwide in resource limited settings. However, because it is a newly

3

developed test, there is still a need for rigorous validation to provide more evidence of its effectiveness, efficacy, and efficiency. The potential impact of the compartment bag test is vast due to the substantial global burden of infectious diarrhea and other enteric diseases.

Epidemiology of Diarrheal Disease

Burden of Diarrheal Disease

Diarrheal diseases are responsible for causing high rates of morbidity and mortality in developing countries (Bryce, Boschi-Pinto, Shibuya, & Black, 2005). They are more likely to occur in situations where there is a lack of adequate water supplies, and poor sanitation and hygiene. Globally, roughly 783 million people lack access to improved drinking water, and over two billion have no basic sanitation (WHO/GLAAS, 2012).

The World Health Organization reports approximately 2.2 million diarrheal deaths each year among children under the age of five in developing countries. Consumption of unsafe drinking water takes a toll on both human health and individual productivity through the development of diarrheal diseases (Prüss-Üstün & Corvalán, 2006). It is estimated that diarrheal diseases amount to 4.1% of the total disability-adjusted life year (DALY) global burden of disease. More than four-fifths of this burden is due to unsafe drinking water, sanitation, and hygiene (WHO/GLAAS, 2012).

The overall diarrheal disease case fatality rate in children less than 5 years of age is 0.2% in developing countries, being the highest in the youngest children. The case fatality rates in children in developing countries range from 0.1% to 0.5% in settings that are as diverse as the rural areas of Indonesia, rural Egypt, urban Central African Republic, and rural North India (Bhan MK & K, 1989).

In developing countries, the median annual incidence of diarrheal disease in children under 5 years of age was 3.5 episodes (WHO/UNICEF, 2009). The incidence was highest in community-based studies with a small number of children under surveillance, and with more frequent home visiting. This suggests that other studies may have found lower rates due to underreporting. The incidence of diarrheal disease varies based upon age. The highest incidence is seen in children 2 years old or younger, with a peak seen at 6 to 17 months of age. However, this declines with aging (Bern, Martines, De Zoysa, & Glass, 1992).

Diarrheal diseases have unfavorable effects on the growth of children in developing countries. This is due to decreased absorption of nutrients, decreased appetite, and in some cases a changed diet. Diarrheal disease in children within the first several months of life can result in more long-term growth deficiencies than in older children (Black, 1991).

In developing countries, diarrheal diseases are also an economic burden due to the costs of medical care and the loss of daily life functionality. There have been increased

efforts to reduce diarrheal mortality as the severity of diarrheal disease is increasing in some countries. This has led to more research being conducted on ways to prevent diarrheal disease through the development of low-cost drinking water quality tests.

Drinking Water Quality and Diarrheal Disease

One of the major causes of diarrheal disease is the consumption of contaminated drinking water. Fecal coliforms, particularly E. coli, have been used as indicators of fecal contamination of drinking water (Horan, 2003). The presence of *E. coli* is customarily associated with fecal contamination because it is the most common fecal coliform among the intestinal flora of warm-blooded animals (Rompré, Servais, Baudart, de-Roubin, & Laurent, 2002). Contaminated drinking water may contain unsafe levels of microorganisms that pose a risk to human health (JMP, 2010). In many developing countries the use of untreated water sources makes the assessment of fecal contamination of drinking water chiefly important (Fewtrell & Bartram, 2001). Moe et al. (1991) found that when the water supply contained greater than 1,000 E. coli per 100 mL of water the rate of diarrheal disease was significantly higher. As a result contaminated water becomes a major source of exposure to fecal contamination and diarrheal pathogens. The study concluded that compared to other bacterial indicators, E. coli appears to be a better predictor of the risk of waterborne gastrointestinal illness (Moe, Sobsey, Samsa, & Mesolo, 1991). The World Health Organization has specified that zero E. coli per 100 mL of water is the goal for all water supplies and should be the target even in emergency situations (WHO, 2006).

There are currently several tests used to detect and quantify *E. coli* and other fecal coliforms in drinking water, however they can be expensive, complex, and time consuming. In addition, the lack of access to water analysis kits or laboratories is an issue for many communities in the developing world (Sundram, Bailey, & Green, 2000). There is a need for simple, reliable, low-cost interventions that will be readily available to people in developing countries with limited access to water, sanitation, and hygiene, therefore helping to prevent diarrheal disease (McMahan, Devine, Grunden, & Sobsey, 2011).

Comparison of Water Quality Tests

Membrane Filtration

Membrane filtration is a traditional technique used for the microbial analysis of coliform bacteria in water samples. It is used for both the detection and enumeration of fecal coliforms in drinking water (Rompré et al., 2002). In many countries this technique is approved and accepted as a common procedure for monitoring the microbial quality of drinking water.

The technique consists of filtering a predetermined volume, principally 100 mL, of a water sample through a filter funnel onto a sterile membrane with a $0.47\mu m$ pore size via vacuum pressure. Any microorganisms present in the sample are concentrated on the membrane surface. After complete filtration of the water sample, the filter is placed on

selective media and incubated at 35-37°C for 24 hours. After incubation, typical colony growth on the filter is enumerated. The colonies that form on the membrane surface can be transferred to other microbiological media to further confirm identification.

One of the selective media commonly used with the membrane filtration technique is MI agar medium. This medium was developed by Brenner et al. (1993) to concurrently detect total coliforms and *E. coli* in water samples. The medium contains flurogenic 4-methylumbelliferyl-beta-D-galactopyranoside (MUGal) and chromogenic indoxyl-beta-D-glucuronide (IBDG). The total coliforms produce beta-galactosidase cleaving MUGal which fluoresces under UV light, whereas *E. coli* produces betaglucuronidase which cleaves IBDG forming a bright blue color (Brenner et al., 1993).

The technique was shown to be sensitive, selective, specific, and rapid with low false positive and false negative rates by Brenner et al. (1993). Specificity for *E. coli* on MI agar was 95.7% which is similar to the specificity reported for other media used with membrane filtration in Hartman (1989), but differs from the results found in Chang et al. (1989). The false negative and false positive rates were both 4.3% (Brenner et al., 1993).

The membrane filtration technique, with the use of MI agar, may produce results within a turnaround time of 24 hours. The method requires approximately 15 minutes of hands-on time, but must be incubated for at least 18-24 hours. The materials needed for membrane filtration can be considered to be expensive at \$2,500 for the membrane filtration assembly including the vacuum pump, costing \$1.70 per test (Bain et al., 2012).

Competent laboratory personnel are required to perform membrane filtration using MI agar without interpretation problems.

Quality control procedures must be used for membrane filtration with MI agar. Each new batch of MI agar plates must be tested using a known *E. coli* isolate as the positive control, and phosphate-buffer saline for the negative control. The MI agar plates must be used within the specified expiration time to be able to fully observe colony color production. If bacterial growth is observed for the negative control, this may be due to contamination of the materials.

An advantage of membrane filtration is that it is feasible to examine larger volumes of water when necessary. It also provides quantitative rather than semiquantitative enumeration. Membrane filtration is a useful technique for many water quality laboratories in that many samples can be processed with limited staff. It is less expensive than liquid chromogen and fluorogen media. However, a wide range of basic laboratory equipment is required which can be expensive and not readily available in resource limited settings. In addition to this, the technique requires skilled laboratory personnel with microbiological training. The plates also may not be read and interpreted the same way by various laboratory personnel observing the plates. Some colonies may be misidentified due to variation in color.

Compartment Bag Test

The compartment bag test is a simple, low-cost test for drinking water quality that has been recently developed in collaboration with researchers at the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. It is able to detect and quantify *E. coli* based upon the most probable number principle. This test is portable, affordable, and can be used without extensive laboratory equipment that is normally needed for standard tests for drinking water quality.

The components of the compartment bag test include a clear, sterile, disposable plastic bag, dry chromogenic substrate culture media, and a water collection container. The test consists of mixing the chromogenic medium with up to 100 mL of the water sample, pouring it into the compartment bag, and gently squeezing the bag to distribute the correct volumes into the designated compartments. The bag is then sealed with a reusable plastic clip and incubated for approximately 24 hours. With the use of chromogenic substrate culture media, *E. coli* can be detected through the production of a blue-green color change in the water sample due to the utilization of the specific substrate in the medium.

A study by McMahan et al. found that the performance characteristics of the compartment bag test were notable in comparison to the Quanit-Tray IDEXX Colilert® assay. Sensitivity, Specificity, NPV, and PPV were 73%, 100%, 68%, and 100%, respectively for the compartment bag test when observed after 24 hours of incubation

(McMahan et al.). The test produced a false positive rate of 0% and a false negative rate of 27%.

The compartment bag test has a turnaround time of 24-48 hours. It requires less than 5 minutes of hands-on time, and can be performed with minimal materials as there is no need for special laboratory equipment. It is suitable for low resource settings. Cost per test is \$1.00 (Bain et al., 2012). The test is non-complex and does not require the use of trained laboratory personnel. A negative control can be prepared using phosphatebuffered saline to ensure the absence of contamination.

Advantages to using the compartment bag test are less hands-on time, affordability, and fewer resources required. The test can be easily performed by someone without laboratory training. Expensive materials and equipment are not required for the test, and therefore can be used in remote settings where resources are limited. Unlike many other drinking water quality tests the compartment bag test does not require the use of electricity, utilizing ambient temperature incubation or the use of a warming agent that does not require electricity. This compact, simple test is able to help prevent exposure to enteric pathogens, and has the potential to provide water quality managers, disaster relief officials, and water, sanitation and hygiene staff with rapid, reliable results for decisions necessary to protect the public from waterborne infectious diseases.

	Membrane IDEXX Coliler Filtration Quanti-Tray		Compartment Bag Test
Hands-on Time	15 minutes	10 minutes	5 minutes
Turnaround Time	24 hours	24 hours 24 ho	
Cost	\$1.70 per test \$2,500 (equipment)	\$5.50 per test \$6,000 (equipment)	\$1.00 per test \$0 (equipment)
Level of Complexity	High	Moderate	Low
Testing Environment	Laboratory	Laboratory	Non-Laboratory
Resource Setting	High resource	High resource	Low resource

 Table 1. Comparison of Water Quality Tests

Purpose of Research

There are several drinking water quality tests available that are applicable in various field settings, however they do not meet the needs in resource limited settings due to cost and the necessity of large volumes of water to be sampled (Brown et al., 2011). The compartment bag test has been developed as a less expensive and simple to use test to detect the presence of *E. coli* in drinking water. Due to being recently developed, this research was necessary to evaluate the compartment bag test for the detection and quantification of *E. coli* in drinking water against the standard method, membrane filtration using validation and verification protocols. Increasing the evidence for the compartment bag test will provide an opportunity to be widely accepted by the scientific

community. This will help promote the application of this test not only in developing countries, but also in developed countries when access to safe drinking water is limited in the event of natural disasters.

REFERENCES

- Bain, R, Bartram, J, Elliott, M, Matthews, R, McMahan, L, Tung, R, Chuang, P, & Gundry, S. (2012). A summary catalogue of microbial drinking water tests for low and medium resource settings. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, 9(5), 1609-1625.
- Bern, C, Martines, J, De Zoysa, I, & Glass, RI. (1992). The magnitude of the global problem of diarrhoeal disease: a ten-year update. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 70(6), 705.
- Bhan MK, Arora NK, Ghai OP, Ramachandran, & K, Khoshoo V, Bhandari N. (1989). Major factors in diarrhoea related mortality among rural children. *Indian J Med Res*, 83, 9-12.
- Black, RE. (1991). Would control of childhood infectious diseases reduce malnutrition? *Acta Paediatrica*, 80(s374), 133-140.
- Boubetra, A, Le Nestour, F, Allaert, C, & Feinberg, M. (2011). Validation of Alternative Methods for the Analysis of Drinking Water and Their Application to Escherichia coli. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 77(10), 3360-3367.
- Brenner, KP, Rankin, CC, Roybal, YR, Stelma, GN, Scarpino, PV, & Dufour, AP. (1993). New medium for the simultaneous detection of total coliforms and Escherichia coli in water. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 59(11), 3534-3544.
- Brown, J, Stauber, C, Murphy, JL, Khan, A, Mu, T, Elliott, M, & Sobsey, MD. (2011). Ambient-temperature incubation for the field detection of Escherichia coli in drinking water. *Journal of applied microbiology*, *110*(4), 915-923.
- Bryce, J, Boschi-Pinto, C, Shibuya, K, & Black, R. (2005). WHO estimates of the causes of death in children. *The Lancet*, *365*(9465), 1147-1152.
- Fewtrell, L, & Bartram, J. (2001). *Water Quality: Guidelines, Standards and Health:* Assessment of Risk and Risk Management for Water-Related Infectious Disease: International Water Assn.
- Horan, NJ. (2003). Faecal indicator organisms. *The handbook of water and wastewater microbiology*, 105-112.

- JMP. (2010). Joint Monitoring Program Report on Progress on Sanitation and Drinking Water (pp. 10). Villie-Morgon, France.
- Liu, L, Johnson, HL, Cousens, S, Perin, J, Scott, S, Lawn, Joy E, . . . Li, Mengying. (2012). Global, regional, and national causes of child mortality: an updated systematic analysis for 2010 with time trends since 2000. *The Lancet*.
- McMahan, L, Devine, AA, Grunden, AM, & Sobsey, MD. (2011). Validation of the H2S method to detect bacteria of fecal origin by cultured and molecular methods. *Applied microbiology and biotechnology*, *92*(6), 1287-1295.
- McMahan, L, Pierson, K, Wang, A, Ibidapo, S, Gronewold, AD, & Sobsey, MD. (In Review) Evaluation of a Low-Cost Compartmentalized Bag MPN Method for the Detection and Quantification of E. coli in Fecally Contaminated Drinking Water.
- Moe, CL, Sobsey, MD, Samsa, GP, & Mesolo, Virginia. (1991). Bacterial indicators of risk of diarrhoeal disease from drinking-water in the Philippines. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 69(3), 305.
- Prüss-Üstün, A, & Corvalán, C. (2006). *Preventing disease through healthy environments*: World Health Organization Geneva.
- Rompré, A, Servais, P, Baudart, J, de-Roubin, MR, & Laurent, P. (2002). Detection and enumeration of coliforms in drinking water: current methods and emerging approaches. *Journal of Microbiological Methods*, 49(1), 31-54.
- Sobsey, MD, & Pfaender, FCOMPARTMENTK. (2002). Evaluation of the H2S method for detection of fecal contamination of drinking water: World Health Organization.
- Sundram, A, Bailey, IW, & Green, E. (2000). *The Application of New Technology Used for Identifying Bacteria from Water Samples*. Paper presented at the Proceedings of the WISA 2000 Biennial Conference.
- WHO. (2006). Guidelines for Drinking-Water Quality (pp. 392-394). Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization.
- WHO/GLAAS. (2012). UN-Water Global Analysis and Assessment of Sanitation and Drinking-Water (GLAAS): The Challenge of Extending and Sustaining Services. Geneva.
- WHO/UNICEF. (2009). Diarrhea: Why children are still dying and what can be done. Geneva.

CHAPTER III

MANUSCRIPT

INTRODUCTION

Globally, roughly 783 million people lack access to improved drinking water, and over two billion have no basic sanitation (WHO/GLAAS, 2012). There are approximately two billion cases of diarrheal disease globally every year. It is a leading cause of preventable deaths worldwide and the second leading cause of mortality and morbidity in children under the age of five (Liu et al., 2012). One of the major causes of the 2.2 million deaths due to diarrheal disease is the consumption of contaminated water (WHO/UNICEF, 2009).

The microbial quality of water has a large impact on health in developing countries where access to safe drinking water is limited (Fewtrell & Bartram, 2001). Contaminated drinking water may contain unsafe levels of microorganisms that pose a risk to human health (JMP, 2010). Fecal coliforms, particularly *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*), have been used as indicators of fecal contamination of drinking water (Horan, 2003). The World Health Organization has specified that zero *E. coli* per 100 mL of water is the goal for all water supplies (WHO, 2006). There are several current tests used to detect and quantify *E. coli* and other fecal coliforms in drinking water, however they

can be expensive, complex, and time consuming (Boubetra, Le Nestour, Allaert, & Feinberg, 2011). Most of these tests require trained laboratory personnel and a laboratory setting that may not be available in remote areas (NRC, 2004). In addition, the lack of access to water analysis kits or laboratories is an issue for many communities in the developing world (Sundram, Bailey, & Green, 2000).

There is a need for simple, reliable, low-cost interventions that will be readily available to people in developing countries with limited access to water, sanitation, and hygiene, therefore helping to prevent diarrheal disease (McMahan, Devine, Grunden, & Sobsey, 2011). As a result, the compartment bag test has been developed as a less expensive and simple to use test to detect the presence of *E. coli* in drinking water. The purpose of this study was to evaluate the compartment bag test for the detection and quantification of *E. coli* in drinking water against the standard method, membrane filtration using mI agar for various natural water sources in Atlanta, GA.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Water samples were collected from forty-five various naturally contaminated water sources around metro-Atlanta. The samples were collected from August 2011 through April 2012 as a part of the Research Initiation Grant in collaboration with the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. Each sample was labeled with the location of the water source and date of collection, stored at 2-8°C, and processed within 24 hours of collection. A total of 270 samples were processed and tested in the Institute of Public Health Laboratory at Georgia State University using the compartment bag test and the traditional membrane filtration method.

Membrane Filtration Method

Water sample volumes of 10, 50, or 100 mL were processed in duplicates using membrane filtration and selective medium (mI agar, Becton Dickinson, Sparks, MD) containing chromogenic and fluorogenic β -glucuronide and β -galactoside substrates for the detection and enumeration of *E. coli* following standard method 1604 (EPA, 2002). After adherence of the membrane to the agar, the plates were inverted and incubated for 18-24 hours at 35°C. *Escherichia coli* colonies were quantified and reported as colonyforming units (CFU) per 100 mL (EPA, 2002).

Compartment Bag Test Method

A total volume of 10, 50, or 100 mL of each water sample was mixed with a chromogenic *E. coli* broth culture medium and poured into a clear, standard water sample collection bag consisting of 5 internal compartments with individual volumes of 1, 3, 10, 30, and 56 mL each. After filling the compartmentalized plastic bags, the sample was manually distributed into each compartment by gently squeezing to ensure that each sample volume was filled to the set mark (Figure 1). Each bag was then sealed using a

two-piece plastic clip, with isolation of each compartment, and incubated for 18-24 hours at 35°C. After incubation, each compartment of the bag was scored. Concentrations of *E. coli* were determined using positive and negative compartment bag combinations which correspond to specified most probable number (MPN) values. Positive compartments of the bag were identified as those which turned a blue-green color, indicating the presence of *E. coli* due to the hydrolysis of the β -glucuronide substrate (McMahan et al.). This is based upon the principle that most *E. coli* strains produce β glucuronidase (Watkins, Rippey, Clavet, Kelley-Reitz, & Burkhardt, 1988). Indeterminate results were noted and re-evaluated.



Figure 1. Compartment Bag Test

Isolation and Purification of Presumptive E. coli Positives

Presumptive *E. coli* isolates from positive compartments of the compartment bag test and isolates from the mI plates were streaked for isolation to Trypticase Soy Agar (TSA) and Bio-Rad RAPID'*E.coli* 2TM agar to obtain pure isolates and for organism identification for 123 of the water samples. For each compartment bag test with at least one positive compartment, the smallest volume compartment that turned positive was first streaked for isolation onto Bio-Rad RAPID'*E.coli* 2^{TM} agar and incubated for 18-24 hours at 45°C. A colony with the typical appearance of *E. coli* from each of these plates was then re-streaked onto another plate of Bio-Rad RAPID'*E.coli* 2^{TM} agar and incubated for 18-24 hours at 45°C to ensure a pure culture. Colonies with the typical appearance of *E. coli* were then streaked onto TSA and incubated for 18-24 hours at 35°C. Pure isolated colonies from the TSA plates were added to individual 1mL aliquots of 20% glycerol and TSB and stored at -80°C for future use. Frozen isolates were thawed and streaked onto TSA for further identification. Organism identification was confirmed with the pure isolates using the BBLTM EnterotubeTM II multiple biochemical test system for the identification of Enterobacteriaceae.

Data Analysis

The data for each water sample were recorded and entered into Microsoft Excel and copied into Stata 10.0 (StataCorp, College Station, Texas, USA) for further analysis. The water quality testing results from membrane filtration and the compartment bag test were characterized using descriptive statistics. These included geometric and arithmetic means with 95% confidence intervals, variance, and standard deviation using categorical and continuous data in both log_{10} transformed and non- log_{10} transformed format. Correlation analysis was used to determine how the two methods compared with each other for the same water sample based on the presence and concentration of *E.coli*. This included correlations between estimates for *E. coli* within the categories commonly used to indicate fecal contamination and the level of waterborne disease risk as specified by the World Health Organization (WHO, 2006). Spearman's rank correlation coefficient was used to measure how closely the *E. coli* concentrations for the two methods compare. The compartment bag test and membrane filtration method were also compared on the basis of sensitivity [(true positives) / (true positives + false negatives)] and specificity [(true negatives) / (true negatives + false positives)] for the presence of *E. coli* compared to a gold standard of biochemical identification.

Parametric and non-parametric statistical tests were used to compare results where data were and were not normally distributed. Using continuous and log_{10} transformed data comparisons were made with mean comparison tests. A Wilcoxon Rank Sum test was also performed to compare the two methods and determine if the medians were statistically different.

RESULTS

A total of 270 naturally contaminated urban water samples were tested and grouped by type of water source (Table 2). The geometric and arithmetic mean *E. coli* counts were 1.52 (95% CI 1.39 – 1.64) MPN/100 mL and 212.4 (95% CI 170.5 – 254.2) MPN/100 mL, respectively for the compartment bag test, versus 1.63 (95% CI 1.51 – 1.76) CFU/100 mL and 232.5 (95% CI 190.7 – 274.3) CFU/100 mL for membrane

filtration. The Wilcoxon Rank Sum test for paired samples revealed that the median concentrations of *E. coli* were significantly different between methods (p = 0.0002).

Type of Source	Number of Samples	Season	Total
Creek	18	Summer	84
	22	Fall	
	24	Winter	
	20	Spring	
Lake	22	Summer	86
	27	Fall	
	17	Winter	
	20	Spring	
Pond	4	Winter	9
	5	Spring	
Stream	1	Summer	24
	3	Fall	
	8	Winter	
	12	Spring	
Rainwater	6	Summer	64
	42	Fall	
	8	Winter	
	8	Spring	
Other	3	Winter	3

Table 2. Descriptive Characteristics of Urban Water Samples Collected Between August2011 and April 2012

As shown in Table 3, *E. coli* concentrations for the two methods were significantly correlated with a correlation coefficient of 0.904 (95% CI 0.859 – 0.950) when linear regression was performed. Furthermore, when compared on categorical *E. coli* concentration basis, there was fairly high agreement, especially at higher concentrations as shown in Table 4. As specified by the World Health Organization, these categories [<1 CFU/100 mL (very low risk), 1-9 CFU/100 mL (low risk), 10-99 CFU/100 mL (moderate risk), \geq 100 CFU/ 100 mL (high risk)] are used to indicate fecal contamination and the level of waterborne disease risk.

 Table 3. Results from Linear Regression Measuring E. coli
 Concentrations of the Compartment Bag Test and Membrane Filtration

Membrane Filtration (CFU/100 mL)	Coefficient	Standard Error	t	Р	95% CI	Spearman's rho
CBT (MPN/100 mL)	0.904	0.0233	38.89	< 0.001	0.8588 - 0.9504	0.9278

	Membrane Filtration (CFU/100 mL)				
CBT (MPN/100 mL)	<1	1-9	10-99	≥100	Total
<1	28	8	4	0	40
	70.0%	20.0%	10.0%	0%	100%
1-9	1	30	9	2	42
	2.38%	71.4%	21.4%	4.76%	100%
10-99	0	7	50	11	68
	0%	10.3%	73.5%	16.2%	100%
≥100	0	0	8	103	111
	0%	0%	7.21%	92.8%	100%
Total	29	45	71	116	261
	11.1%	17.2%	27.2%	44.4%	100%

 Table 4. Comparison of Categorical Concentrations of *E. coli* for the Compartment Bag

 Test (CBT) and Membrane Filtration

Out of 263 samples tested with both methods, 12 (30%) were negative for *E. coli* (<1 MPN/100 mL) when tested with the compartment bag test, whereas the same samples were positive for *E. coli* (1 - > 100 CFU/100 mL) when tested with membrane filtration. These were considered to be false negatives. One (0.45%) sample was considered to be a false positive as it was positive for *E. coli* when tested using the compartment bag test, but negative for *E. coli* when tested using membrane filtration. We found that the compartment bag test produced a sensitivity of 94.9% and a specificity of 96.6% when compared with membrane filtration on mI agar (Tables 5 and 6).

Membrane Filtration					
CBT	Negative	Positive	Total		
NI 4 °	28	12	40		
Negative	70%	30%	100%		
D '4'	1	222	223		
Positive	0.45%	99.6%	100%		
Total	29	234	263		
	11%	89%	100%		

 Table 5. Statistical Comparison of Results for the Compartment Bag Test Compared to the

 Standard Method, Membrane Filtration

Sensitivity	94.9%
Specificity	96.6%
PPV	99.6%
NPV	70.0%
False Positive Rate	3.4%
False Negative Rate	5.1%
Accuracy	95%

 Table 6. Performance Characteristics of the Compartment Bag Test for the Detection of *E. coli*

The EnterotubeTM II biochemical test showed that 100% (43 out of 43) of the presumptive *E. coli* isolates obtained from the compartment bag test were identified as *E. coli* (Table 7). Out of 109 presumptive *E. coli* isolates from the compartment bag test (43 presumptive *E. coli* isolates) and membrane filtration (66 presumptive *E. coli* isolates), a total of 108 isolates were identified as *E. coli*. Isolates from both the compartment bag test and membrane filtration not presumed to be *E. coli* were also biochemically tested. Based on the biochemical analysis of presumptive *E. coli* isolates, 99% were identified as *E. coli* with one isolate (1%) identified as *Enterobacter aerogenes*.

			Total Number of
Type of Source	Number of Isolates	Isolates Identified as	
		E. coli	
	Compartment Bag Test	Membrane Filtration	_
Creek	21	27	48
	100%	96%	98%
Lake	18	31	49
	100%	100%	100%
Pond	1	1	2
	100%	100%	100%
Stream	3	4	7
	100%	100%	100%
Rainwater	0	2	2
	0%	100%	100%
Other	NT	NT	NT
Total	43	65	108
	100%	98%	99%

Table 7. EnterotubeTM II Biochemical Test Results for Presumptive *E. coli* Isolates

*NT – Not Tested

When grouped by type of water source and season collected the dichotomous comparisons of results are well synchronized with the exception of samples collected from rainwater sources and samples collected during the fall (Tables 8 and 9). This may be due to the fact that some of the rainwater sources were treated whereas others were untreated. Treated rainwater sources were exposed to UV sterilization, filtration, or chemical disinfection that possibly eliminated any *E. coli* that may have been present. As a result, treated rainwater sources were more likely to be negative. There is no unison seen in the dichotomous comparison of the results for the fall season due to the majority of rainwater samples being collected during fall months. Further exploration of this phenomenon may be examined in future studies.

Type of Source	Membrane	Total	
	E. coli Negative	E. coli Positive	
Creat	0	83	83
Стеек	0%	100%	100%
Lake	0	86	86
	0%	100%	100%
Other	0	4	4
	0%	100%	100%
Pond	0	9	9
	0%	100%	100%
Rainwater	29	35	64
	45.3%	54.7%	100%
Stream	0	24	24
	0%	100%	100%
Total	29	241	270
	10.7%	89.3%	100%

 Table 8. Type of Source and Dichotomous Comparison of Total Membrane Filtration

 Presumptive E. coli Results

Table 9.	Season and Dichotomous	Comparison of	Total	Compartment B	ag Test and
Membra	ne Filtration Results				

	Compartment Bag Test			Membrane Filtration		
Season	E. coli	E. coli	Total	E. coli	E. coli	Total
	Negative	Positive		Negative	Positive	
Fall	32	62	94	25	69	94
	34.0%	66.0%	100%	26.6%	73.4%	100%
Spring	3	61	64	0	65	65
	4.69%	95.3%	100%	0%	100%	100%
Summer	2	44	46	2	44	46
	4.35%	95.7%	100%	4.35%	95.7%	100%
Winter	3	61	64	2	63	65
	4.69%	95.3%	100%	3.08%	96.9%	100%
Total	40	228	268	29	241	270
	14.9%	85.1%	100%	10.7%	89.3%	100%

DISCUSSION

The compartment bag test is a small, field portable test that performs just as proficiently as membrane filtration. The objective of our research was to perform a rigorous evaluation of the compartment bag test against the standard method 1604, membrane filtration on mI agar for the detection of *E. coli* in water. The reliability of this test is important in being able to provide a simple, reliable, low cost water quality test for use in limited resource settings.

Our evaluation indicates that the compartment bag test had high specificity (96.6%) and positive predictive value (>97%), but sensitivity (94.9%) and negative predictive value were lower (~70%). When tested against membrane filtration with mI agar, the compartment bag test was able to correctly detect 94.9% of all *E. coli* positive results, and 96.6% of all *E. coli* negative results. As a result of producing few false positives (0.45%), a positive result observed with the compartment bag test is a good predictor of the presence of *E. coli* (PPV = 99.6%). However, the compartment bag test produced a moderate number of false negatives (30%), suggesting that a negative result does not always assure the absence of *E. coli* (NPV = 70%). These results were comparable to those found by McMahan et al. with sensitivity, specificity, NPV, and

PPV determined to be 73%, 100%, 68%, and 100%, respectively for the compartment bag test.

When compared using a two sample t-test and Wilcoxon Rank Sum test for paired samples, we found statistically significant differences in concentrations for the compartment bag test compared to membrane filtration with mI agar. However, this may be due to the relatively limited most probable number combinations available in a five compartment bag test (compared to the Poisson distribution of membrane filtration). Statistically significant correlation of *E. coli* concentrations for the two methods illustrates that the quantification of *E. coli* was analogous for both methods. This suggests that the compartment bag test is comparable to membrane filtration with mI agar for the quantification of *E. coli*.

Based upon the categories of *E. coli* concentrations as specified by the World Health Organization, the compartment bag test and membrane filtration methods were in agreement when matched in each corresponding category. Results indicated that 70%, 71.4%, 73.5%, and 92.8% of *E. coli* concentrations <1, 1-9, 10-99, and \geq 100 MPN/100 mL or CFU/100 mL, respectively were in agreement for the two methods. The compartment bag test is able to effectively indicate fecal contamination in water samples, thereby predicting the level of waterborne disease risk. The unparalleled dichotomous comparison of results produced by the rainwater samples was reflected in the dichotomous comparison of results produced by water samples collected during the fall season. Treated and untreated rainwater samples were grouped together as one type of source, and therefore may have contributed to this observance. However, further investigation is needed.

Current water quality testing methods for detection and quantification of fecal bacteria can be complex and technically demanding (Boubetra et al., 2011). They require extraneous laboratory equipment, and are difficult to perform in developing countries and during natural disasters. In addition, other resources including a cold chain, electricity, and incubators are too expensive and unpractical for use in resource limited settings (Brown et al., 2011). These present immeasurable obstacles for developing countries (Chuang, Trottier, & Murcott, 2011). The compartment bag test is small and field portable which is beneficial in situations where access to laboratory equipment is not feasible. It can be used in settings where electricity may not readily be available with the utilization of ambient temperature incubation. Despite the fact that the water samples were processed in a laboratory setting for this analysis, our results demonstrate that, the compartment bag test is capable of performing efficiently in remote settings where resources are limited, such as in developing countries.

There are possible sources of variation which include color interpretation and variation in color production. In cases of indeterminate results, there may be a small or

light production of color that may only be visible with close examination, and observers may interpret color differently. There are a small number of likely positive bag compartment combinations for the compart bag test, and as a result only a small number of most probable number values (McMahan et al.).

Differences in *E. coli* concentrations were observed with samples collected from rainwater sources when tested with the compartment bag test and membrane filtration. For example, with membrane filtration on mI agar higher concentrations of *E. coli* were seen than with the compartment bag test. In some cases there were wide variations in the concentrations of *E. coli* detected by the two methods. These findings suggest the need for further investigation into why these differences were observed. One way we might do this would be to increase the number of rainwater samples collected throughout all of the seasons.

With the immediate need of a low-cost water quality test in developing countries where diarrheal disease is endemic, this test is more economically feasible to test drinking water without trained laboratory personnel. The test is rapid and simple to perform. We propose that our results suggest that the compartment bag test performs just as efficiently as the standard method, membrane filtration for the detection of *E. coli* in drinking water thereby predicting the risk of waterborne disease. In developing countries where resources for water quality testing are limited, this valuable test can aid in the prevention of diarrheal disease and help reduce the burden of disease. The compartment bag test has the potential of being employed in monitoring activities for microbial water quality when there are excessive microbial levels detected in drinking water, and used to support water safety plans.

REFERENCES

- Boubetra, A, Le Nestour, F, Allaert, C, & Feinberg, M. (2011). Validation of Alternative Methods for the Analysis of Drinking Water and Their Application to Escherichia coli. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 77(10), 3360-3367.
- Brown, J, Stauber, C, Murphy, JL, Khan, A, Mu, T, Elliott, M, & Sobsey, MD. (2011). Ambient-temperature incubation for the field detection of Escherichia coli in drinking water. *Journal of applied microbiology*, *110*(4), 915-923.
- Chuang, P, Trottier, S, & Murcott, S. (2011). Comparison and verification of four fieldbased microbiological tests: H₂S test, Easygel®, Colilert®, PetrifilmTM. *Journal* of Water, Sanitation and Hygiene for Development, 1(1), 68-85.
- EPA. (2002). Method 1604: Total coliforms and Escherichia coli in water by membrane filtration using a simultaneous detection technique (MI Medium) *Publication EPA-821-R-02-024*. Washington, D.C.: USEPA Office of Water (4303T).
- Fewtrell, L, & Bartram, J. (2001). Water Quality: Guidelines, Standards and Health: Assessment of Risk and Risk Management for Water-Related Infectious Disease: International Water Assn.
- Horan, NJ. (2003). Faecal indicator organisms. *The handbook of water and wastewater microbiology*, 105-112.
- JMP. (2010). Joint Monitoring Program Report on Progress on Sanitation and Drinking Water (pp. 10). Villie-Morgon, France.
- Liu, L, Johnson, HL, Cousens, S, Perin, J, Scott, S, Lawn, JE, . . . Li, Mengying. (2012). Global, regional, and national causes of child mortality: an updated systematic analysis for 2010 with time trends since 2000. *The Lancet*.
- McMahan, L, Devine, AA, Grunden, AM, & Sobsey, MD. (2011). Validation of the H2S method to detect bacteria of fecal origin by cultured and molecular methods. *Applied microbiology and biotechnology*, 92(6), 1287-1295.
- McMahan, L, Pierson, K, Wang, A, Ibidapo, S, Gronewold, AD, & Sobsey, MD. (In Review) *Evaluation of a Low-Cost Compartmentalized Bag MPN Method for the Detection and Quantification of E. coli in Fecally Contaminated Drinking Water.*

NRC. (2004). Indicators for Waterborne Pathogens. Washington, D.C.

- Sundram, A, Bailey, IW, & Green, E. (2000). The Application of New Technology Used for Identifying Bacteria from Water Samples. Paper presented at the Proceedings of the WISA 2000 Biennial Conference.
- Watkins, WD, Rippey, SR, Clavet, CR, Kelley-Reitz, DJ, & Burkhardt, W. (1988). Novel compound for identifying Escherichia coli. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 54(7), 1874-1875.
- WHO. (2006). Guidelines for Drinking-Water Quality (pp. 392-394). Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization.
- WHO/GLAAS. (2012). UN-Water Global Analysis and Assessment of Sanitation and Drinking-Water (GLAAS): The Challenge of Extending and Sustaining Services. Geneva.
- WHO/UNICEF. (2009). Diarrhea: Why children are still dying and what can be done. Geneva.